IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

)

NOV 25 1996

PIZZA HUT OF AMERICA, INC.,

CLERK SUPPLEME COUPT

Crief Deputy Sterk

Petitioner,

Case No.: **DCA** Case No.:

88,301 95-036**9**5

vs,

RICHARD MILLER, as personal representative of the **Estate** of NANCY MILLER, deceased and ADT SECURITY SYSTEMS, MID-SOUTH, INC., a/k/a ADT SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.,

Respondents.

PETITIONER, PIZZA HUT OF AMERICA, INC.'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Bonita L. Kneeland, Esquire FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL & BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, FL 33601 (813) 228-7411 Florida Bar No.: 607355 Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Richard Miller, as personal representative of the Estate of Nancy Miller, brought a wrongful death action against Nancy Miller's employer, Pizza Hut of America, Inc.¹/₂ alleging that PHA failed to employ adequate security measures at the Brandon Pizza Hut (where she worked) and failed to warn her of prior criminal activity in the vicinity. The allegations state that the Defendant was negligent in failing to protect Miller from the intentional acts of her criminal assailant. (App. 1)²/₂ In answering the complaint, PHA stated that it was immune from the alleged negligence on the basis of workers' compensation immunity. (App. 2) Consequently, PHA moved for summary judgment as a matter of law. (App. 3)

In support of its motion for summary judgment, PHA also filed its request for admissions to Richard Miller and his answers to the request for admissions. (App. 5) PHA also filed the affidavit of Randal W. Johnson, the area manager for PHA in the division that included the Brandon Pizza Hut. (App. 6) These documents demonstrate that on the evening of May 26, 1992, Nancy Miller (a waitress) was working the closing shift at the Pizza Hut restaurant located on Brandon Boulevard in Brandon, Florida. Miller's murdered body and that of the restaurant manager, Steven Snow, were

Plaintiff, Respondent, Richard Miller, will **be** referred to as "Richard Miller" or "the Respondent." The Defendant/Petitioner, Pizza Hut of America, Inc., will be referred to as "PHA" or "the Petitioner."

² All citations are to the appendix accompanying this Initial Brief, which was originally filed with the Second District.

found inside the Brandon Pizza Hut restaurant in the ear y hours of the morning of May 27, 1992. Their bodies were found near an open safe inside the Pizza Hut and \$812 was missing from the safe, When her body was found, Nancy Miller was wearing a shirt with a Pizza Hut logo, was wearing a Pizza Hut name tag, and was still wearing an apron. (App. 5, 6)

Additional facts are disclosed by filings made by Richard Miller in response to the motion for summary judgment. The trial testimony of Michael Davis of ADT Security Systems, which took place at the criminal trial of Richard Miller, 3/ states that the alarm at the Pizza Hut restaurant had been set at approximately 12:59 and 38 seconds a.m. on May 27, 1992, and then deactivated at 1:00 and 50 seconds a.m. In other words, a minute and twelve seconds after the alarm was turned on, it was turned back off. (App. 8, pp. 10-11)

The Plaintiff filed State's Exhibit #54 from Richard Miller's criminal trial, identified as a print out of the ADT records for Brandon Pizza Hut, which confirmed the times given by Michael Davis in his testimony. (App. 11) An additional filing consists of a copy of the time records for Nancy Miller at the Brandon Pizza Hut which indicate that she "clocked out" on the morning of May 27, 1992 at 12:54 a.m., just minutes before the alarm was first activated. (App. 12) Finally, the Plaintiff filed the deposition of Michael Davis, operations manager for ADT, taken pursuant to the

Richard Miller was indicted, tried and acquitted of the murder of his wife, Nancy Miller, prior to bringing this lawsuit.

criminal prosecution. (App. 13) His testimony confirms that the alarm was set at 12:59 and 38 seconds on May 27, 1992, and deactivated one minute and twelve seconds later at 1:00 and 50 seconds. (App. 13, pp. 19-20)

The affidavit of Robyn Lynn Jordan, filed by the Plaintiff, demonstrates that Miller and the store manager, Steven Snow, may have been initially accosted by their assailant at the doorway of the restaurant. (App.7) According to Ms. Jordan, sometime before midnight on the eve of May 26, 1992, she left her home Hillsborough County to get some food for herself and her sons. As she drove into the parking lot, toward the rear door of the Brandon Pizza Hut, she noticed two cars in the parking lot. attested that, in the doorway of the rear door of the Pizza Hut, she saw a white woman standing just outside of the door frame next to a white male. Both of them were facing a black male wearing a knit ski cap. When her car lights fell upon the three individuals, the black man placed his hand on the shoulder of the white male an pushed him toward the doorway. The white woman ran inside and the black male motioned for Jordan to leave. Upon hearing of the murders, Jordan later notified the sheriff's department of what she had seen. (App. 7, pp. 1-2)

Richard Miller also filed additional exhibits in opposition to PHA's motion for summary judgment. The first item was the deposition of Dale Pugh, the security manager for the Florida Division of PHA. (App. 9) His deposition shows that it was taken in January, 1994, one month before Richard Miller's criminal trial

by the State, and that it was taken in an unrelated case where PHA was a defendant. In Pugh's deposition he was asked about the Brandon Pizza Hut murders. Pugh stated that the police always suspected and finally arrested the husband of one of the victims [Miller] for the murders -- and that the husband "made it look like a robbery" when it was not. (App. 9, pp. 171-172)4/

In addition, Richard Miller filed Nancy Miller's employee agreement with PHA, along with his request for admissions on PHA and PHA's response. [5] (App. 14) Miller attached to his request for admissions a memorandum signed by Steven Snow in 1989 in which he acknowledges that "working off the clock" is a violation of company policy as well as state and federal laws and would not be condoned by Pizza Hut. (App. 14) [6] Finally, the Plaintiff filed a copy of State's Exhibit #7 from Richard Miller's criminal case, identified as a note found on Steven Snow's body on the morning of May 27, 1992, The note states: "I will keep killing till he's out. Front of Colombian Liberation. Viva Carlos Lehder." (App. 10)

On July 5, 1995, a hearing was held on the summary judgment motion. (App. 16) Both sides presented their cases. Richard

In his memorandum to the court, Richard Miller used the deposition to argue that Pugh had taken the position under oath that a real robbery had not occurred at the Brandon Pizza Hut. (App. 17, p. 3)

⁵ The court will note that many of the admissions were denied on the basis of the wrong time being given in the admission question.

These laws protect employees from working without being paid.

Miller's attorney asked the court to take judicial notice of the entire criminal court file in this case. (App. 16, pp. 24-25)PHA's trial attorney pointed out that the criminal trial lasted approximately two weeks and had almost 1,000 exhibits and thousands of pages of testimony. He also pointed out that judicial notice was not raised before the day of the hearing. (App. 16, p. 38) In addition, there was no transcript made to date of the criminal trial. (App. 16, p. 40) Per the court's inquiry, the parties acknowledged that there was nothing in the record to indicate the exact time of Miller's death. (App. 16, p. 31, 42) Nevertheless, the parties agreed that there was evidence that brought the death within a range of time. (App. 16, pp. 43-44) The Plaintiff's attorney acknowledged that the medical examiner gave a range of time for the death during the criminal trial. (App. 16, p. 43) The court permitted the attorneys to file supplemental memorandums of law. (App. 16, **pp.** 36-37)

Following the summary judgment hearing, Richard Miller filed a memorandum of law in opposition to PHA's motion for summary judgment. (App. 17) His memorandum of law includes facts that were not entered into the record prior to the summary judgment motion -- that tip money from Nancy Miller's apron had not been taken, that her wedding ring remained on her finger, that Miller's purse was in her car in the parking lot, and that two pizza boxes and a large drink were found stacked near Miller's body. (App. 17,

The Plaintiff did not file a formal request for judicial notice, nor did the court ever formally rule on the request.

p. 3) His memorandum also attaches a portion of the deposition of Randal Johnson in which Johnson states that a closing task for a waitress would not be setting the alarm or locking the door, but would be cleaning up and restocking the dining area. (App. 16, Exhibit A)

The Plaintiff's memorandum of law argues that Miller's death did not arise out of her employment because of ten possible "fact issues" remaining to be determined by the jury: (1) what Nancy Miller was doing after clocking out at 12:54 a.m.; (2) whether she was interacting socially with her co-worker; (3) how long a period elapsed after the time she clocked out until her murder; (4) whether she was confronted by her assailant on the premises or off premises; (5) whether the tasks she performed during the evening shift were incidental to her employment; (6) whether Miller had exited the restaurant and then returned later on a personal errand for something she had forgotten; (7) whether the attack was motivated by robbery or terrorism; (8) whether the robbery was genuine or staged; (9) whether the attack was a random act of violence; and (10) whether the attack was a risk inherent in her employment. (App. 17, p. 6)

PHA responded with a supplemental memorandum of fact and law. (App. 18) The memorandum informs the court that Attorney Lazzara, who represented Richard Miller at his criminal trial, just as he is representing Richard Miller in this civil action, made an opening statement: to the jury in the criminal trial in which he summarized the evidence the defense would rely on at trial:

"I expect the evidence to show that this is not a calculated, staged robbery, but a real robbery. One that was committed -- the robbery -- before the people were killed, not after.'"

(App. 18, p. 4) (verbatim quote from videotape of criminal trial). 8 Lazzara also told the jury that the evidence would show that blood splatters on the bottom of the safe led to the "inescapable conclusion" that the robbery occurred before the murders. (App. 18, p. 4; App. 19, pp. 29-30)

In addition, PHA's memorandum addressed the issue with which the trial court was concerned, i.e., the time of Nancy Miller's death. The memorandum states that in Mr. Lazzara's cross-examination of Robert Pfaltzgraf, the medical examiner at the criminal trial, he elicited testimony from the doctor that the time of death was consistent with the time of the alarm deactivation at approximately 1:01 a.m. Dr. Pfaltzgraf had arrived on the scene at approximately 8:00 or 9:00 in the morning, and fixed the range of time for the deaths at six to eight hours before his arrival, i.e., between 12:00 midnight and 3:00 a.m.²/

PHA argued that it was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law based on workers' compensation immunity on the grounds that: (1) Nancy Miller was at the Brandon Pizza Hut on

The opening statement was transcribed and provided to the District Court in App. 19. Lazzara's statement that a "real" robbery occurred is in App. 19, pp. 17-18.

Miller did not dispute this testimony by the medical examiner. For the appellate court's review, the verbatim testimony of the medical examiner, was transcribed from the videotape of the criminal trial, and provided to the Court in App. 19.

the evening of May 26, and the morning of May 27, 1992. incidental to her employment in working the closing shift; (2) Nancy Miller's dead body (and that of her manager, Steven Snow), were found near the open, empty safe, demonstrating that a robbery took place; and (3) Nancy Miller was the victim of a violent crime that took place in her workplace, compensable through workers' compensation.

Richard Miller then filed a pleading objecting to certain (App. 22) statements in PHA's supplemental memorandum of law. Specifically, the Plaintiff objected to the statements made by Robyn Jordan in her affidavit, which were cited by PHA, because according to the Plaintiff, she had made a somewhat different statement at trial, (App. 8, p.1) The Plaintiff also objected to the statement made by PHA that a robbery occurred at the scene of the murder, apparently on the basis that this was an inference rather than a fact. (App. 22, p. 2) He objected to the fact that (App. 22, p. 2) "Colombian" was misspelled in PHA's memorandum. He also objected to the inclusion of statements made by Mr. Lazzara in his opening at the criminal trial. (App. 22, p. 2) Plaintiff also stated that there was sworn testimony at the trial (not filed with the court) that Miller had a habit of taking a soft drink and pizza home with her, and that the drink found nearby was her usual choice. (App. 22, p. 2)

PHA responded to the Plaintiff's objections by stating that Richard Miller could not impeach the affidavit of witness, Robyn Jordan that Richard Miller himself filed, and that the fact that a robbery occurred at the scene of the murder was a fact, not an

inference, based on hard evidence of an open safe (with blood spatters inside) and missing money. (App. 23, pp. 1-2) PHA also responded that the Pizza Hut manager, Steven Snow, also sometimes took home pizza, and that it was never known whose pizza boxes were on the floor near the dead bodies. (App. 23, p. 3)

On August 18, 1995, the trial court entered an order denying PHA's motion for summary judgment. (App. 24) The order simply states: "There are factual questions that must be submitted to the jury on the issue of workers' compensation immunity." Although trial counsel for PHA submitted a letter to the court asking that it do so (App. 24), the order does not specify the specific factual issues that are deemed necessary to go to a jury. (App. 25) PHA timely appealed this order.

On appeal, PHA took the position that there was a complete lack of record evidence demonstrating that either of the victims was at the Pizza Hut premises for purely personal reasons at the time of the attack and robbery. PHA presented case law to the court holding that cleaning up, closing up, and exiting the restaurant (even after "clocking out") are all considered part of employment activities. PHA also argued that robbery and its accompanying violence are always a risk inherent in a workplace that is open late with a cash register or safe on the premises, and that the jury could not be permitted to speculate about the PHA also disputed Richard contents of the note left behind. Miller's new argument made for the first time on appeal that because boxes of pizza were found near Nancy Miller's body, she had

placed them there, that she herself had baked the pizzas, and that she had done so during the time period between clocking out and being accosted. The bottom line of PHA's argument was that there were no genuine fact issues to go to the jury other than those advanced by counsel, not by evidence. PHA also argued that sending the Plaintiff's suggested fact issues to the jury would call for wild speculation or the impermissible pyramiding of inference upon inference on its part if the jury did indeed determine those issues in the Plaintiff's favor. Therefore, PHA concluded that it should have been granted a summary judgment as a matter of law.

In response, the Second District issued its decision in Pizza Hut of America, Inc. v. Miller, 674 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), determining that it had no jurisdiction over the cause. The court looked only to the trial court's order stating that "factual questions must be submitted to the jury" and to the hearing transcript where (the District Court states) the trial court indicated was concerned as to whether Nancy Miller had ceased doing employment related activities and was acting in regard to purely personal matters when she was murdered. Id. at 179.10/ The Second District determined that such an order by the court did not fall within the ambit of Rule 9.130(a) (3) (vi), Fla. R. App. P. as an order determining "that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law." Id. PHA timely filed a petition to this Court to accept jurisdiction due to a conflict

PHA disputes the accuracy of this observation in the argument portion of this brief.

among the district courts as to the interpretation of the above rule, This Court accepted jurisdiction over this matter by order dated October 25, 1996.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER AN APPELLATE COURT HAS JURISDICTION UNDER RULE 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), FLORIDARULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE, TO REVIEW THE RECORD EVIDENCE ON APPEAL TO DETERMINE WHETHER A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS TO PRECLUDE SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON AN EMPLOYER'S ENTITLEMENT TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only correct interpretation of Rule 9.130(3)(C)(vi), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, is that appellate courts have jurisdiction to decide a non-final appeal of an order denying summary judgment if the basis for the motion for summary judgment was that the appellant was entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law. The Second District's position, that the order itself must conclusively and finally determine a party's non-entitlement to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law is an incorrect interpretation of the statute, and violates public policy by failing to protect a statutory employer's freedom from spurious lawsuits that attempt to circumvent such immunity.

In determining that it had no jurisdiction over this cause, the Second District did not examine the record to determine whether a "material" (genuine) issue of fact remained to go to the jury. It merely relied upon the language in the trial court's order and a brief review of a hearing transcript to determine what a trial court may have been concerned about. In actuality, the trial court never revealed what "fact issue" remained to be presented to the jury, and never specifically stated any concern at the hearing other than whether there had ever been a fixed time of death. The Second District should have exercised its jurisdiction to determine whether a genuine, actual, material issue of fact existed -- not simply alleged issues that, if taken to a jury, would require the jury to engage in wild speculation and the pyramiding of inference

upon inference upon inference in order to reach the conclusion advanced by the Plaintiff.

It is contrary to public policy to interpret the appellate rules so as to require an employer to bear the burden of a trial without the opportunity to take a non-final appeal on the issue of his immunity from suit. Once he has to stand trial, his immunity from suit has been essentially stripped without recourse. If an order denying summary judgment based on workers' compensation immunity is not subject to an interlocutory appeal, it will also lead to a deluge of litigation because employees who are unsatisfied with a mere compensation remedy will now believe they have a greater chance of taking their claims to trial. Thus, the Second District's position should be rejected in favor of the Fourth District's reasoned decision.

ARGUMENT

AN APPELLATE COURT HAS JURISDICTION UNDER RULE 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE, TO REVIEW THE RECORD EVIDENCE ON APPEAL TO DETERMINE WHETHER A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS TO PRECLUDE SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON AN EMPLOYER'S ENTITLEMENT TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The issue for this Court's consideration is the proper interpretation of this Court's amendment to Rule 9.130, Rules of Appellate Procedure, which states as follows:

- (3) Review of non-final orders of lower tribunals is limited to those that
 - (C) determine
 - (vi) that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law.

Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), Fla. R. App. P.

At present, there appear to be three different schools of thought among the district courts of appeal as to the interpretation of that amendment, which was first set out in Mandico v. Taos Construction, Inc., 605 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1992). The three schools of thought are divided as follows: The Fourth District Court of Appeal and Fifth District Court of Appeal take the position that they have jurisdiction to decide a non-final appeal of an order denying summary judgment if the basis for the motion for summary judgment was that the appellant was entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law. The Second District Court of Appeal, which has recently certified the

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