### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PIZZA HUT OF AMERICA, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 88,301

RICHARD MILLER, as personal representative of the Estate of NANCY MILLER, deceased, and ADT SECURITY SYSTEMS, MID-SOUTH, INC., a/k/a ADT SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT MILLER'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STUART C. MARKMAN (FB#322571) SUSAN H. FREEMON (FB#344664) Kynes, Markman & Felman, P.A. Post Office Box 3396 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 229-1118

Attorneys for Respondent Miller

###

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District correctly held there is no jurisdiction under Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi) to entertain an appeal from a non-final order which denies an employer's motion for summary judgment due to the existence of material fact disputes concerning the application of the workers' compensation immunity defense. This decision is consistent with the Supreme Court's intention from the time it first articulated subdivision (a) (3) (C) (vi) in Mandico v. Taos Constr., Inc., 605 So.2d 850, 855 (Fla. 1992), to its recent adoption of an amendment specifically designed to correct the erroneous interpretation relied on by Pizza Hut. Simply put, the rule means what it says: Appeals are authorized under Rule 9.130(a) (3) (C) (vi) only if the trial court has decided the workers' compensation immunity issue "as a matter of law." If as in this case the trial court has merely denied a motion for summary judgment based on the existence of a material fact dispute, the legal issue has not been reached and, as the Second District held, it is "not ripe for determination." Miller, 674 So.2d at 179.

But even if jurisdiction existed for Pizza Hut's appeal, the outcome of this case would be the same. To win a summary judgment based on the workers' compensation immunity defense, Pizza Hut had the heavy burden of establishing beyond dispute that Miller was engaged in an activity "incidental to her employment" at the time she was accosted and murdered. Pizza Hut's assertion that Miller's murder was incidental to her employment conflicts with record evidence indicating that after Miller's job duties concluded but

before she departed, she remained in the restaurant to engage in the purely personal task of preparing food to take home to her family. Under Aloff v. Neff-Harmon, Inc., 463 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the one decision on all fours, the workers' compensation defense cannot be resolved on summary judgment if as here there is evidence an injured waitress was attending to personal, non-business matters before she was attacked.

To prevail on summary judgment Pizza Hut also had to establish as a matter of law that Miller's murder was caused by a risk inherent in her employment as a waitress. Again, the evidence going to this legal requirement is sharply in dispute. The record establishes that in Pizza Hut's own corporate history, no attack on a waitress like the instant one had ever occurred - it was literally "unheard of." In addition, it is undisputed that a handwritten note was left at the murder scene indicating Miller's killer or killers were motivated by a political or terrorist purpose. Evidence indicating the type of crime in issue here had never before occurred at Pizza Hut and that the crime was prompted at least in part by reasons unrelated to theft yields a material fact dispute as to whether murder was a "risk inherent" in Miller's job as a pizza waitress. Like the "incidental to employment" requirement, under the rules governing summary judgment, dispute can only be resolved by a jury.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT CORRECTLY DISMISSED PIZZA HUT'S NON-FINAL APPEAL BECAUSE RULE 9.103(a) (3) (C) (vi) DOES NOT AND HAS NEVER AUTHORIZED AN EMPLOYER'S NON-FINAL APPEAL FROM AN ORDER THAT DOES NOT DECIDE THE ISSUE OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY AS A MATTER OF LAW BUT INSTEAD DENIES SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE EXISTENCE OF A MATERIAL FACT DISPUTE.

The same day Pizza Hut served its initial brief on the merits, the Supreme Court issued its decision in Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996). In its decision, the Supreme Court adopts an amendment to Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi), which clarifies the intention and meaning of the subdivision. The Supreme Court's adoption of the amendment rejects the interpretation of the subdivision upon which Pizza time, it At the appeal rests. same approves interpretation the Second District employed in this case, which is that (a)(3)(C)(vi) was never intended to grant a right of non-final review when the trial court has not determined the applicability of workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law but has instead merely denied a motion for summary judgment based on the existence of a material fact dispute concerning the defense. Because the Second District correctly applied the subdivision precisely as it has always been intended to be applied, the Supreme Court should affirm.

The conclusion that the Second District should be affirmed flows directly from the history of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi). In 1992, the Florida Supreme Court first articulated the subdivision in Mandico v. Taos Constr.. Inc., 15 Fla. L. Weekly S445, S447

(Fla. July 9, 1992); MApp. 16, 18. The original version of the subdivision did not contain the word "as a matter of law." Id. The Court invited comment from interested parties and stated the provision would be further considered after the comments were reviewed. Id.

In response, the Florida Appellate Court Rules Committee filed a comment which urged the Supreme Court to add language to make it certain that non-final review would be limited only to orders which actually determined workers' compensation immunity as a matter of Comment of Appellate Court Rules Committee on Proposed law. Amendment to Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a) (3) at 3; MApp. 20-23. Committee was especially concerned that the rule could be erroneously construed to authorize non-final review of orders like the instant one, in which the trial court has determined only that the workers' compensation immunity defense is a fact question for the jury. MApp. 21-22. To avoid this overbroad interpretation and the proliferation of non-final appeals that would result from it, the Committee proposed the Supreme Court add words of limitation phrase "as a matter of law" — to the the end of the <u>Mandico</u> amendment:

As presently written [without the words 'as a matter of law"], the proposed amendment would permit review of any order denying worker's compensation immunity, regardless of the manner in which such issue was determined. This would include review of an order which denied summary judgment on the ground that the worker's compensation immunity issue was a fact question for the jury. In other words, the rule would permit review of a ruling which determined nothing more than whether there was a genuine issue of material fact in the

record. Respectfully, the Committee suggests
that, at the least, the proposed amendment be
altered to limit review to orders which
determine worker's compensation immunity as a
matter of law, as follows:

. . .

(vi) That a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity  $\underline{as}$   $\underline{a}$   $\underline{m}$  a t t e r .

MApp. 20-21 (underlining in original).

The final version of <u>Mandico</u> that appears in the official reporter incorporated the Committee's recommendation verbatim. Exactly as the Committee proposed, the words "as a matter of law" were added to the end of the subdivision. <u>Mandico v Taos Construino</u>., 605 So.2d 850, 855 (Fla. 1992).

Two years after the Supreme Court of Florida decided Mandico, the Fourth District issued its opinion in the case on which Pizza Hut's interpretation of the rule hinges, Breakers Palm Reach. Inc. v. Closer, 646 So.2d 237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Evidently unaware of the process by which the words "as a matter of law" were added to Rule 9.130(a) (3) (C) (vi) or the reason for their addition, Gloger interpreted the phrase in a way that is the exact opposite of the meaning it was intended to have. According to Gloaer, because the words "as a matter of law" appear at the end of the subdivision, Rule 9.103(a) (3) (C) (vi) authorizes a non-final appeal even if the trial court has done no more than deny a motion for summary judgment based on the existence of disputed issues of fact. 646 So.2d at 237-38. Pizza Hut's briefs on jurisdiction and on the merits both quote and rely on the following passage from Gloger:

If the words "as a matter of law" had been placed at the beginning of the amendment, rather than at the end, appellees' argument would be persuasive. Under that scenario the rule would permit review of non-final orders which determine "as a matter of law that a party is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity." The key words, when placed at the beginning, modify "determine."

By putting the key words at the end, however, the court gave the amendment a broader meaning. They modify "entitled." The denial of defendant's motion for summary judgment, because there were issues of fact, is an order determining that the defendant is "not entitled to workers' compensation immunity **as** a matter of law."

Br. on Juris. at 7; Init. Br. on Merits at 16-17 (citing Gloger, 646 So.2d at 237-38). As Pizza Hut acknowledges, the other case on which its conflict claim is based, City of Lake Marv v. Franklin. 668 So.2d 712 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), also rests on Gloger's word placement theory. Br. on Juris. at 7-8; Init. Br. on Merits at 18.

Approximately four years after the Fourth District decided Gloger and two months after the Fifth District decided City of Lake Mary, the Second District issued its opinion in the case on review, Pizza Hut of America, Inc. v. Miller. 674 So.2d 178 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). The Miller Court read Rule 9.130(a)(C)(3) (vi) as the Supreme Court intended when it added the words "as a matter of law" in Mandico.

Miller agrees with the trial court's conclusion that the instant case involves an "underlying factual dispute" as to whether Mrs. Miller was "acting within the scope of her employment at the time of her murder or . . . acting in regard to purely personal matters."

Id. at 179. For this reason and consistent with the

purpose of adding the words "as a matter of law" to the subdivision in 1992, the Second District dismissed Pizza Hut's appeal for lack of jurisdiction. Id. Because the resolution of the legal question of the application of the workers' compensation immunity defense "depends first on the determination of the parties' disputed version of the facts as to what Mrs. Miller was doing at the time of her murder," the Second District correctly held it cannot be said that the trial court denied summary judgment "as a matter of law." Id. That legal question will not be "ripe for determination until the underlying factual dispute is resolved." Id.

During the time this case has been on review, steps have been taken to correct the Fourth and Fifth Districts' misreading of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi) in Cloder end Cisv of Lake Mary. m o n t h the Supreme Court accepted jurisdiction in this case, The Florida Bar Appellate Rules Committee filed an emergency petition to amend Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi) to move the words "as a matter of law" from the end to the beginning of the subdivision. Mapp. 24-32. As Pizza Hut concedes, Init. Br. on Merits at 28; Resp. to Miller's Mot. to Dismiss at 1, the Committee's proposed amendment endorses the Second District's holding here and refutes Pizza Hut's interpretation.

The Committee's petition points out that the reason the 1992 amendment to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(0) (vi) was proposed in the first

<sup>&</sup>quot;Pizza Hut's counterpart in the other pending Supreme Court case presenting the instant issue, <u>Hastings v. Demming</u>, 682 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), <u>rev. granted</u>, No. 89,130 (Fla. Feb. 11, 1997), also concedes the amendment proposed by the Committee "comports with the Second District's ruling." Pet. Hastings' Init. Br. on Merits at 22.

place was to prevent the subdivision from being misconstrued to authorize a non-final appeal in the precise situation at bar. MApp. 24-25. Referring specifically to the 'confusion" generated by the Fourth and Fifth Districts' decisions in Gloger and City of Lake Mary, the Committee recommended moving the phrase "as a matter of law" from the end of the subdivision to its beginning. MApp. 24-25. As the petition and the proposed committee note both state, this change corrects the erroneous word placement analysis in Gloger and clarifies "that this subdivision was not intended to grant a right of non-final review if the lower tribunal denies a motion for summary judgment based on the existence of a material fact dispute." MApp. 25, 32.

The same day Pizza Hut served its initial brief on the merits, the Supreme Court adopted verbatim the amendment the Committee proposed. Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d at 796. The Supreme Court also adopted verbatim the explanatory committee note accompanying the amendment. Id. at 799. Echoing the text of the emergency petition, the committee note states the reason for moving the words "as a matter of law" from the end to the beginning of the subdivision is to correct the very misinterpretation of the rule that underpins Pizza Hut's entire appeal — Gloger's erroneous word placement theory:

The amendment to subdivision (a) (3) (C) (vi) moves the phrase "as a matter of law" from the end of the subdivision to its beginning. This is to resolve the confusion evidenced in [Gloger], and [City of Lake Mary], and their progeny by clarifying that this subdivision was not intended to grant a right of non-final review if the lower tribunal denies a motion

for summary judgment based on the existence of a material fact dispute.

Id. at 799 (emphasis added).

Against this background, Pizza Hut cannot seriously contest that the Second District should be affirmed. The recent amendment of Rule 9.130(a) (3)(C)(vi) did nothing more than clarify the subsection's original intent. Pizza Hut and its counterpart in the other pending case presenting this issue, Hastings v. Demming, 682 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), rev, granted, No. 89,130 (Fla. Feb. 11, 1997), both concede the amendment to Rule 9.130(a) (3) (C) (vi) adopts the same reading of the rule the Second District applied here. Init. Br. on Merits at 28. As the Florida Supreme Court's responses to the Appellate Court Rules Committee's original 1992 comment and recent emergency petition vividly illustrate, <u>Gloger's</u> reasoning is erroneous. Mandico and subdivision (a) (3) (C) (vi) were never intended to grant a right of non-final review in cases like the instant one.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Indeed, Gloger's vitality now appears seriously in doubt in the very district court that decided it. In its recent decision in Wausau Ins. Co. v. Havnes 683 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), the Fourth District cited with approval the Second District's decision in <u>Hastings</u> which follows the same rule applied here. 1125. In addition, the special concurrence in Haynes specifically rejects the word placement analysis on which <u>Gloser</u> and Pizza Hut's appeal are based. <u>Id</u>. at 1126 & nn.2-3 (Farmer, J., concurring). Similarly, the Fifth District has recently characterized the relevant language in City of Lake Mary as dicta, ACT Corp. v. Devane, 672 So.2d 611, 613 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), and dismissed another non-final appeal for lack of jurisdiction where the record did not demonstrate the trial court had ruled the defendant was not entitled to immunity as a matter of law. <u>Integrity Homes of Cent.</u> Fla., Inc. v. Goldy, 672 So.2d 839, 840 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (emphasis in original). The First District has also endorsed the Second District's reasoning in Hastings. Gustafson's Dairy, Inc. (continued...)

Because the amendment clarifies but does not change the intention of subdivision (a)(3)(C)(vi), Respondent Miller's entitlement to dismissal is unaffected by the fact that all of the recently adopted amendment is "effective January 1, 1997, at 12:01 a.m." Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d at 777. As noted, by moving the phrase "as a matter of law" from the end to the beginning of the subdivision, the amendment corrects the erroneous analysis in the decisions relied on by Pizza Hut and restates the original intent of the rule. APP. 6, 7, 9, 10, 17. Because the meaning of the subdivision has never changed, no issue concerning its prospective or retrospective application arises.

Although the recent clarification of subsection (a) (3) (C) (vi) renders them immaterial, it should be noted that Pizza Hut's "public policy" arguments cannot withstand scrutiny. According to Pizza Hut, the rule should be construed broadly to protect employers from unscrupulous injured employees who 'attempt [] to circumvent [workers' compensation] immunity" by bringing "lawsuits alleging grounds that are unsupportable" and instituting 'unwarranted litigation." Init. Br. on Merits at 22, 23, 28. If the Supreme Court does not authorize non-final appeals like the instant one, Pizza Hut's parade of horribles continues, there will be a "deluge" of personal injury claims by employees unsatisfied

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